

# GOING FURTHER TOGETHER

The case for European Union partnership with Africa on regulatory harmonization





# **GOING FURTHER TOGETHER**

The case for European Union partnership with Africa on regulatory harmonization

Paper commissioned by Deutsche Stiftung Weltbevölkerung (DSW)

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This paper was prepared by Jenny Blair with inputs from Lisa Goerlitz, Agustin Martin, Cecile Vernant and Claire Wingfield. Many thanks to Elana Banin, Katie Gray Pauline Irungu, Yolanda Moyo and Simba Onyancha for providing valuable research, fact checking and insights into the development of this paper.

### **ABOUT DSW**

Deutsche Stiftung Weltbevölkerung (DSW) is a global development organisation that focuses on the needs and potential of the largest youth generation in history. We are committed to creating demand for and access to health information, services, supplies, and economic empowerment for youth. We achieve this by engaging in advocacy, capacity development, and reproductive health initiatives, so that young people are empowered to lead healthy and self-determined lives. With our headquarters in Hannover, Germany, DSW operates two liaison offices in Berlin and Brussels, as well as maintaining a strong presence in Ethiopia, Kenya, Tanzania, and Uganda. DSW also advocates for investment in research and innovation to fight poverty-related and neglected tropical diseases – diseases that continue to disproportionately affect women and girls.

### **ABOUT PATH**

PATH is the leader in global health innovation. An international nonprofit organization, we save lives and improve health, especially among women and children. We accelerate innovation across five platforms—vaccines, drugs, diagnostics, devices, and system and service innovations—that harness our entrepreneurial insight, scientific and public health expertise, and passion for health equity. By mobilizing partners around the world, we take innovation to scale, working alongside countries primarily in Africa and Asia to tackle their greatest health needs. Together, we deliver measurable results that disrupt the cycle of poor health.

#### www.path.org

PATH and Deutsche Stiftung Weltbevölkerung (DSW). Driving Health Impact through Regulatory Harmonization: How the EU Can Support Regulatory Harmonization in Africa to Accelerate Access to Essential Health Products. Seattle: PATH; October 2017.

# GOING FURTHER TOGETHER

The case for European Union partnership with Africa on regulatory harmonization

### **CONTENTS**

Abbreviations	4
Executive summary	
1. Introduction	
1.1. Introduction and scope	
1.2. Methodology	
1.3. Harmonization as a means to alleviate regulatory challenges	10

### 2. Mapping of regulatory harmonization efforts in Africa \_\_\_\_\_ 12

2.1. African Union harmonization efforts	12
2.2. Harmonization at the regional level	14
2.2.1. Implementation of the African Medicines Regulatory Harmonization initiative across Regional Economic Communities	14
2.2.2. African Vaccine Regulatory Forum	15
2.3. Harmonization at the national level	16
2.3.1. Case study on Kenya	16
2.3.2. Case study on Burundi	17
2.3.3. Case study on South Africa	17
2.4. Common challenges to regulatory harmonization	18

3. Mapping of joint EU-Africa efforts on harmonization	
3.1. Joint Africa-EU Strategy	
3.2. Cotonou Agreement	
3.3. New European Consensus on Development	
3.4. European Commission	
3.4.1. DG International Cooperation and Development	
3.4.2. DG Research and Innovation	
3.4.3. DG Health and Food Safety	
4. Recommendations	
References	30

### **ABBREVIATIONS**

ACP-EU	African, Caribbean and Pacific States and EU
AMA	African Medicines Agency
AMR	Antimicrobial Resistance
AMRH	African Medicines Regulatory Harmonization
ANDI	African Network for Drugs and Diagnostics Innovation
AU	African Union
AVAREF	African Vaccine Regulatory Forum
COHRED	Council on Health Research and Development
CSA	Coordination and Support Action
DCI	Development Cooperation Instrument
DG DEVCO	
	DG International Cooperation and Development
DGS	Directorate-Generals DG Health and Food Safety
DG SANTE	
DPML	Directorate of Pharmacy, Medicines, and Laboratories
EAC	East African Community
EC	European Commission
ECCAS	Economic Community of Central African States
ECOWAS	Economic Community of West African States
EDCTP	European and Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership
EDF	European Development Fund
EFPIA	European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industries and Associations
EFTA	European Free Trade Association
EIP	European Innovation Partnership
EMA	European Medicines Agency
ERAfrica	European Research Area with Africa
EU	European Union
FDA	United States Food and Drug Administration
FP	Framework Program
GCP	Good Clinical Practice
GLP	Good Laboratory Practice
GMP	Good Manufacturing Practice
HLPD	High-Level Policy Dialogue on Science, Technology and Innovation
IGAD	Intergovernmental Authority on Development
IMI	Innovative Medicines Initiative
JAES	Joint Africa-EU Strategy
JPI KFDA	Joint Programming Initiative
LMI	Kenya Food and Drugs Authority Lead-Market Initiatives
LMICs	Low-and Middle-Income Countries
MCC	Medicines Control Council
NEPAD	New Partnership for African Development
NRAs	National Regulatory Authorities
NTDs	Neglected Tropical Diseases
PANAF	Pan-African Program
PMPA	Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Plan for Africa
PPB	Pharmacy Poisons and Board
PRNDs	Poverty-Related and Neglected Diseases
QMS	Quality Management System
RECS	Regional Economic Communities
R&D	Research and Development
R&I	Research and Innovation
SADC	Southern African Development Community
SAHPRA	South African Health Products Regulatory Agency
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals
STI	Science, Technology and Innovation
ТВ	Tuberculosis
TDR	World Health Organization's special program for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases
UNECA	United Nations Economic Commission for Africa
WHO	World Health Organization



# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The regulation of health products is an essential aspect of a functioning health system. National regulatory authorities (NRAs) play a critical role in ensuring the safety and efficacy of research, and support timely access to quality-assured, safe, and effective health products.

Unfortunately, many low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) lack sustained funding and the technical expertise necessary to robustly and comprehensively regulate the research and registration of new health technologies. As a result, many NRAs are unable to fulfil their mandate, causing delays throughout the product development process.

In order to improve regulatory capacity and infrastructure in Africa, a number of countries are working to harmonize with their neighbors—through pooling resources (both technical and financial), sharing information, and increasing collaboration across countries to ensure the efficient evaluation of health technologies. **Regulatory harmonization across Africa has been endorsed at the highest political levels**, and efforts to harmonize regulatory policies across regional economic communities (RECs) are already having positive impacts. For example, drug approval times have already been reduced by half in the East African Community (EAC).

Despite this progress, many barriers are still hindering the realization of African leaders' vision of a single, harmonized African Medicines Agency (AMA) akin to the European Medicines Agency (EMA). Barriers to continued progress towards this goal include a **lack of sustained funding, limited and varied technical capacity** across countries in Africa, overreliance on a small number of donors, and limited bandwidth to expand regulation to different kinds of technologies and across phases of regulation.

As the leading trade partner and donor of aid to Africa, a global leader in science, technology, and innovation (STI), and the political body with one of the most regionally harmonized medical regulatory systems in the world, the **European Union (EU) is the ideal partner to support regulatory harmonization in Africa.** Through programs like the European Developing Clinical Trials Partnership (EDCTP) and the African,

Caribbean and Pacific States and EU (ACP-EU) partnership, the EU has shown support for harmonization activities in Africa. Though increased commitment is needed from the EU to move current efforts from pilot projects to institutionalized programs. In the coming years, EU policymakers will be tasked with renewing two major frameworks that guide relations between the EU and African countries. The EU will also be renewing and deciding priorities for a number of significant funding mechanisms—all with the potential to strengthen regulatory systems and drive greater partnership between the EU and African Union (AU) in support of regulatory harmonization. As policymakers in the EU begin discussions on renewing partnership frameworks and funding mechanisms, consideration should be given to the following **set of recommendations:** 

## Establish a joint EU/AU expert group on global health to strengthen African research and innovation capacity

An expert group under the management of the European Commission (EC) should be established to focus on global health. The goal of the group should be to develop a joint strategy for collaboration on global health research and innovation (R&I) between the EU and AU, including the identification of priority areas for collaboration to strengthen global health R&I capacity across Africa. The expert group should be composed of representatives from the EU, the AU and member states, and technical experts from academia, civil society and the private sector. For example, this model has been used successfully in the creation of expert groups through the Joint Africa-EU Strategy (JAES) High Level Policy Dialogue on Science, Technology and Innovation (HLPD) which has set up groups on food security, nutrition, and sustainable agriculture, and climate change and sustainable energy.

# Improve synergies between Directorate-Generals (DGs) through the development of a joint science, technology, and innovation for development (STI4D) strategy

The EC should further promote complementarity between EDCTP calls, Horizon 2020, development funds, and member state activities. To accomplish this, the EC should develop a joint strategy on Science, Technology, and Innovation for development (STI4D), ensuring regulatory convergence and harmonization are cross cutting priorities, particularly between DG Research and Innovation (DG RTD) and DG for International Cooperation and Development (DG DEVCO). For instance the collaboration through the Knowledge, Statistics and Data Hub Unit may serve as a basis for further joint efforts. Deepening of this type of collaboration specifically on STI4D, will help promote knowledge sharing to improve synergies between DGs for global health R&D and harmonization.

#### Utilize funding instruments to support regulatory strengthening and harmonization

- The EC should make funds available through mechanisms such as the Pan-African Program (PANAF) under the Development Cooperation Instrument (DCI), and the European Development Fund (EDF) and its regional envelops, to provide additional support for regulatory harmonization in Africa, including for the African Medicines Regulatory Harmonization (AMRH) Initiative. For example, funds from H2020 could be paired with funding from the PANAF in support of the AMRH initiative.
- To maximize critical EU investment, the EC should explore ways to leverage funding to diversify the funding base for global health R&I and regulatory harmonization. This can be accomplished using co-funded activities or by creating new incentives, like matching funds, for investments from the private sector and AU member states. For example, co-funded programs like European Research Area with Africa (ERAfrica), could be expanded to include funding for regulatory harmonization.

# Increase resources for technical assistance activities in support of regulatory harmonization in Africa

The EMA should increase resources for technical assistance activities that strengthen the capacity of African regulators, help align regulatory standards across the region, and avoid regulatory duplication. This should include increased technical support through existing mechanisms like Article 58 and regular meetings with African regulators to share best practices and lessons learned in support of regulatory harmonization.

#### PRIORITY SETTING

### COORDINATION

FUNDING







# **1. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1. INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE

The EU is a leading funder of overseas development aid to Africa. As economies in LMICs grow, aid priorities and partnerships between donors and recipients must reflect these changes. Many countries in Africa are undergoing profound economic, demographic, and epidemiological transitions that are presenting new challenges and opportunities for development. Countries such as South Africa are developing health innovations that can affect the rest of the world. The EU has been a leader in recognizing the importance of partnerships built on co-ownership and, as capacities across Africa grow, the EU has the **opportunity to invest in strengthening health infrastructure and capacity with key partners across the region**.

Recognizing the changing development landscape and the challenges and opportunities of living in a globalized world, leaders from across the globe came together in 2015 to agree upon a set of shared goals-the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)-to be reached by 2030. Goal 3 includes a commitment to ensure good health and well-being, including aims to support access to safe and effective medicines and vaccines, to support research and development for new tools for poverty-related and neglected diseases (PRNDs) <sup>a</sup>, and to strengthen capacity in developing countries to manage global health risks. Goal 9 puts a focus on building resilient infrastructure and fostering innovation, and goal 17 focuses on building global partnerships for sustainable development. The EU played a leading role in the development of the SDGs. Through commitments like the new Consensus on Development, it has set out an ambitious framework for leading on the implementation of these goals. And through reports like The Role of Science, Technology and Innovation Policies to Foster the Implementation of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), the EC has recognized and prioritized the importance of STI to achieve these goals, including the importance of strengthening innovation capacity in LMICs<sup>1</sup>.

a PRNDs include major diseases such as HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis (TB) and malaria, as well as a range of neglected tropical diseases (NTDs).



The aim of this report is to describe how the EU can play a central role accomplishing SDGs 3, 9, and 17 by strengthening health care and innovation systems in Africa through regulatory harmonization. The regulation of health technologies and research is a critical component of every country's public health system, and well-functioning regulatory systems ensure that quality-assured, effective, and safe health tools (vaccines, drugs, devices, and diagnostics) are approved and scaled in a timely manner. Well-functioning regulatory systems help ensure the safety and efficacy of every step of the development pipeline, including regulating research, reviewing clinical trial protocols, registering new products, and conducting oversight of the manufacturing and marketing of medical products. Conversely, poorly functioning regulatory systems can result in delays throughout the development process and can jeopardize the safety of research and clinical trials, as well as result in poor-quality, unsafe, or falsified products. Poorly functioning systems can also disincentivize innovators who do not want to go through the hassle of registering products in a broken system. Many NRAs, particularly in LMICs, are over-burdened and under-resourced and are not functioning at optimal capacity. Regulatory harmonization facilitates the pooling of resources and expertise between NRAs to accelerate the development and rollout of lifesaving health technologies through a coordinated safe review of research, clinical trials, product registration, and post-marketing surveillance.

The EU has perhaps one of the strongest models of regulatory harmonization and can serve as an example for nations across Africa that are beginning this process. EU member states established a central regulatory body, the EMA, in 1995. The AU, with the establishment of the AMRH initiative in 2012 and the passage of the African Union Model Law on Medical Products Regulation (Model Law) in 2016 has begun a similar process of harmonization. As countries across Africa continue to strengthen regional regulatory capacities and demonstrate a commitment to regulatory harmonization, there are new opportunities for the EU to support these processes. The EU is currently reviewing multiple guiding frameworks and policy mechanisms, which include the Joint Africa-EU Strategy (JAES); the Research and Innovation (R&I) Framework Program

(FP); the ACP-EU partnership; and the EDCTP. Decisions around these policies present opportunities for the EU to bolster its support for harmonization activities. This paper seeks to explore ways that the EU, as a model of harmonization and as a major donor in Africa, can seize opportunities to support regulatory harmonization activities in Africa.

Specific objectives include assessing the status of current harmonization activities in Africa, mapping joint Africa-EU efforts that relate to or have the potential to support harmonization in Africa, and identifying opportunities for strengthening Africa-EU cooperation for regulatory harmonization.

#### **1.2. METHODOLOGY**

The mapping and analysis have applied the following basic methods for collecting and analyzing data and forming policy recommendations:

- Conducting literature reviews of policies, laws, strategies, and plans that exist in relation to medicines harmonization in both the EU and Africa.
- Consulting with key stakeholders from government, industry, and civil society to understand stakeholders' views on the challenges and opportunities related to harmonization efforts, both within the EU and African institutions.
- Building off the findings of previous mappings of the health R&D landscapes undertaken by PATH in Kenya, Southern Africa, and the EAC.

#### 1.3. HARMONIZATION AS A MEANS TO ALLEVIATE REGULATORY CHALLENGES

**Significant disparities in health outcomes around the world** are emblematic of unequal access to lifesaving drugs, diagnostics, and vaccines. Although scientific advances have led to the creation of new health tools that have saved millions of lives in high-income countries, and these new tools have the potential to save millions of lives in LMICs, many of the people who need them most lack access to these essential technologies. The **regulation of health technologies is a critical component of every country's public health system** and ensures that high-quality vaccines, devices, diagnostics, and drugs reach the people who need them most efficiently and safely; this is particularly true in epidemic outbreaks, as evidenced during the Ebola or Zika crises. Central to a functioning health system is ensuring the proper regulation for the development and distribution of new health products. For example, regulatory authorities must regulate research for quality assurance, review protocols and ethics for clinical trials to ensure quality and safety standards are met, and be responsible for the approval of new products, as well as for ongoing post-market surveillance to ensure safe and effective manufacturing and distribution of new products.

The regulation of health products requires significant technical expertise and sustainable funding. With great variation in capacities and resources across Africa, the proper and timely regulation of new health products has become a major challenge in increasing access to quality-assured health products across the continent. For example, few LMICs regulate medical devices, even though they are critical tools to prevent, diagnose, and treat disease. A lack of regulation leads to major barriers in access to these devices in LMICs<sup>2</sup>. An additional challenge facing sub-Saharan Africa is the fact that regulatory policies and processes are different from country to country, meaning manufacturers must navigate multiple regulatory bodies with uneven capacities, resources, and timelines. Weak capacity and misaligned regulatory systems can create a significant delay in the registration of health technologies. A recent study found that in sub-Saharan Africa, the lag in regulatory approval was typically four to seven years after first regulatory submission in high-income countries<sup>3</sup>. This can mean life or death for patients waiting to have access to lifesaving drugs. For example, one HIV drug was approved by the United States Food and Drug

Administration (FDA) within six months, yet after seven years, the same drug still had not been approved in some countries in Africa<sup>4</sup>. Weak and misaligned policy for the regulation of health technologies also contributes to the proliferation of falsified and counterfeit products that may create public health risks and damage trust in the health system<sup>5</sup>.

To address these barriers and accelerate access to safe and effective products, many countries in Africa are working together to harmonize regulation. Harmonization efforts help to address the lack of adequate financing and technical expertise faced by many countries in Africa by pooling resources (both technical and financial), sharing information, and increasing collaboration across countries to ensure the efficient evaluation of technologies. Harmonization activities can take many forms and encompass a broad spectrum of joint and shared undertakings, ranging from information sharing between NRAs, to joint inspections and protocol reviews, to convergence of standards and processes, to mutual recognition of product safety and efficacy. Harmonization efforts aim to decrease the time to register essential medicines, to treat priority diseases and reduce duplication of efforts through collaboration between partner states' NRAs. Even the most promising health technologies will not have impact if they cannot reach those in need due to regulatory barriers. Regulatory harmonization is critical in accelerating the development and delivery of lifesaving health technologies, including new tools to address PRNDs and new tools to prepare for future epidemics.

#### FIGURE 1 The what and why of regulatory harmonization



Sharing of information such as inspection findings between regulatory authorities Aligning safety and efficacy standards and processes used to assess and monitor research and products Conducting joint reviews of research protocols and product dossiers and inspections of research and manufacturing sites

Mutual recognition of assessments and inspections conducted and decisions made by other regulatory authority **1. INTRODUCTION** 

### **Regulatory harmonization:**

Expands access to essential health technologies Increases choice Improves quality of technologies FOR CONSUMERS

Strengthens capacity and infrastructure Enables a greater scope and reach Reduces delays Improves quality assurance FOR GOVERNMENTS

Streamlines data collection and processes Reduces costs Accelerates approval processes Clarifies regulatory pathways FOR REGULATORY SPONSORS\* \* Sponsors are entities that initiate and take responsibility for clinical investigations, and request the authorisation of new health tools from regulatory authorities; sponsors include Pharmaceutical companies, academic institutions, private organizations, etc



# 2. MAPPING OF REGULATORY HARMONIZATION EFFORTS IN AFRICA

#### 2.1. AFRICAN UNION HARMONIZATION EFFORTS

To spur economic growth, many African countries have made commitments over the past decade to bolster the STI sector. In 2007, for example, African leaders pledged to allocate 1 percent of gross domestic product to research and development (R&D). In the same year, the AU also endorsed the Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Plan for Africa (PMPA), which aims to strengthen the capacity of pharmaceutical manufacturers to produce high-quality, affordable medicines<sup>6</sup>.

#### The African Network for Drugs and Diagnostics Innovation

The African Network for Drugs and Diagnostics Innovation (ANDI) focuses on the promotion of Africanled innovation and the development of new health tools. ANDI is supported through the WHO's special program for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases and is based at the United Nations Economic Commission for Africa (UNECA) in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. Though ANDI does not have a specific focus on regulatory harmonization, the network is a strategic platform that may be leveraged to complement other harmonization activities going on across the region. As a significant funder of ANDI, the EU should provide assistance to ensure that products developed through ANDI meet standards for good manufacturing practice (GMP) and research adheres to good clinical practice (GCP) and good laboratory practice (GLP) standards. One way to do this is through increased support for regulatory harmonization across sub-Saharan Africa.

To ensure that these commitments translate to increased access to health technologies, many countries and RECs are working to strengthen and align regulatory systems through the AMRH initiative. Regulatory harmonization has received strong political support across the African continent at the highest levels of government, and harmonization efforts are starting to show some success at regional and national levels.



Harmonization efforts in Africa are being guided by the Model Law. The Model Law provides a framework for helping countries realize the vision of the AMRH initiative and provides guidance for countries on how to implement harmonization, with the ultimate goal of creating safe and effective regulatory systems.

#### **Model Law on Medical Products Regulation**

In January 2016, the AU Heads of State adopted the Model Law on Medical Products Regulation. This legislation is meant to guide national governments and RECs to harmonize regulatory systems and increase collaboration across countries. Ultimately, the Model Law is meant to accelerate access to lifesaving interventions and ensure that promising health technologies are developed, tested, and scaled up to improve health impact.

The Model Law was developed in line with WHO recommendations and international safety and quality standards. Through the process of domestication, a country can adapt the Model Law to ensure alignment with its constitutional principles and legal system—and amend or repeal inconsistent national laws. Once adopted and implemented by RECs and countries, the goal of the Model Law is to resolve discrepancies in current regulatory legislation and improve the efficiency and effectiveness of regulatory systems.

In accordance with the Model Law, each country must have an autonomous NRA with the power to regulate the manufacture, import, export, distribution, and use of health technologies. The NRA is also responsible for authorizing clinical trials, granting licenses to manufacturers, and setting standards for the appropriate use of new health technologies. The Model Law also sets expectations and standards for marketing health technologies, licensing, quality and safety of health technologies, clinical trials, and appeals procedures.

Now that the Model Law has been endorsed by AU heads of state, it is up to the RECs, regional organizations, and member states to update and enact regional legal frameworks and national laws. The Model Law should serve as a reference guide for member states as they update or enact national laws on medical product registration.

#### The African Medicines Regulatory

Harmonization initiative was created in 2009 through a joint effort of the New Partnership for African Development (NEPAD), the Pan-African Parliament, and the AU Commission-in collaboration with the WHO, the World Bank, the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. and the United Kingdom's Department for International Development-to increase access to health technologies through regulatory harmonization. The AMRH initiative supports RECs and other regional organizations to align regulatory standards, develop joint review processes, and strengthen regulatory capacity. The long-term objective of the AMRH is to establish an AMA to oversee and coordinate the registration of priority health technologies across the continent. The NEPAD Agency, the technical body of the AU, is responsible for coordinating the implementation of the AMRH initiative.

#### 2.2. HARMONIZATION AT THE REGIONAL LEVEL

### 2.2.1. Implementation of the African Medicines Regulatory Harmonization initiative across the Regional Economic Communities

#### **Regional Economic Communities**

RECs were established across Africa in 1991 to provide a framework for economic integration. The eight RECs act as the implementing arms of the AU and, along with a focus on the economy, work to promote regional peace and stability. RECs have been key to economic growth and development across Africa and have been central to the work of NEPAD<sup>7</sup>.

Many EU member states have engaged with RECs on STI projects, including the Southern Africa Innovation Support Programme, Partnership Agreement for Sustainable Development of Lake Victoria Basin, and the Consortium for Research, Innovation and Training in Central Africa. Though these initiatives have concerns that are broader than health or medicines regulatory harmonization, they provide examples of partnerships between the EU and RECs to promote collaboration on research, innovation, and capacitybuilding.

Though harmonization has been endorsed by heads of state across Africa, progress varies greatly by region and country. For example, the AMRH initiative began in the EAC in 2012<sup>b</sup>. As the first REC to begin implementation of the AMRH, the EAC has already shown progress. Technical working groups in the EAC have developed harmonized guidelines, requirements and standards for GMP, medicines evaluation and registration, and quality management systems. In addition to developing common technical documents, the EAC Secretariat and member state NRAs began joint dossier assessments in 2015. To date, 27 products have been jointly assessed and four products registered<sup>7</sup>, and drug approval time has been reduced by 50 percent<sup>8</sup>. As part of the EAC's medicines regulatory harmonization initiative, technical experts in the EAC have also conducted joint inspections in facilities in Kenya and Uganda in accordance with GMP. These accomplishments demonstrate the potential impact that harmonization can have to ultimately accelerate the delivery of essential medical tools and improve quality. Additionally, the EAC is working to expand its scope to include harmonization of clinical trials, pharmacovigilance, and other health technologies, including devices, diagnostics, and vaccines<sup>9</sup> (though additional resources will be needed). Although this work is promising, gaps in funding and technical capacity have made progress slow, particularly in the area of medical devices, where harmonization has lagged. A recently released call from the EDCTP asking for proposals to support ethics and regulatory capacitystrengthening may present one opportunity for additional resources in support of the AMRH initiative<sup>10</sup>.

Another successful effort has been the Zazibona initiative<sup>c</sup>, a harmonization platform consisting of six countries in the Southern Africa Region. Zazibona began in 2013 as a framework for collaboration for medicines registration. Initially founded by four countries<sup>d</sup> with an agreement to pool resources and share inspections and assessments for World Health Organization (WHO)-listed priority generic medicines<sup>11</sup>, Zazibona has shown significant progress. Since its founding, 156 health products have been reviewed, and at least 50 have been registered for use. The progress already achieved by Zazibona in the Southern Africa Region can serve as the foundation of the expansion of the AMRH initiative in the Southern African Development Community (SADC). There is room to build on Zazibona's achievements, and the initiative may expand its scope to include pharmacovigilance and post-marketing quality assurance.

Building on the progress of harmonization efforts in the EAC and SADC, efforts have also begun in the Economic Community of West African States<sup>e</sup> (ECOWAS), the Economic Community of Central African States<sup>f</sup> (ECCAS), and the Intergovernmental Authority on Development<sup>e</sup> (IGAD). Though progress has been made, this work is still in the early phases. For example, in ECOWAS, countries have harmonized technical documents across the region and created a common technical document, providing a standard format for quality, safety, and efficacy information for new medical product submissions.

b The EAC is made up of Burundi, Kenya, Rwanda, Tanzania, Uganda, and South Sudan. South Sudan joined in 2016 but has not fully engaged in the AMRH initiative.
c Zazibona is made up of Zambia,

Zimbabwe, Botswana, Namibia, South Africa, and Swaziland (observer status).

d Founding countries included Zambia, Zimbabwe, Botswana, and Namibia. South Africa and Swaziland joined after founding.

e ECOWAS is made up of Benin, Burkina Faso, Cape Verde, Ivory Coast, Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Liberia, Mali, Niger, Nigeria, Senegal, Sierra Leone, and Togo.

f ECCAS is made up of Angola, Burundi, Cameroon, Central African Republic, Congo-Brazzaville, Gabon, Equatorial Guinea, Democratic Republic of Congo, Sao Tome and Principe, and Chad.

**g IGAD** is made up of Djibouti, Ethiopia, Eritrea, Kenya, Somalia, the Sudan, South Sudan and Uganda.



The document sets a standard for what information is collected and provides a baseline of standards that will help lay the foundation for future harmonization activities. This is an important step, but progress in these regions is still far behind that of the EAC, in large part because implementation of the AMRH is being launched in stages across the RECs and is only just beginning in these regions. Implementation of the AMRH initiative is still pending in ECCAS and IGAD, though both have demonstrated political support and readiness. In the Central African Region, a framework has been established to guide harmonization in ECCAS, and IGAD adopted a proposal for implementing harmonization in August 2017 (although leaders across IGAD have noted that there is no funding available to support the initiative)<sup>12</sup>.

#### 2.2.2. African Vaccine Regulatory Forum

The WHO established the African Vaccine Regulatory Forum (AVAREF) in 2006. From its inception, **AVAREF has strengthened the capacity of NRAs** to make decisions about clinical trial authorization and product evaluation for vaccines. In late 2016, AVAREF announced that it was expanding its mandate to include medicines and diagnostics, as well as expanding its membership to include all AU member countries<sup>13</sup>. This is a promising opportunity for AVAREF to build on its early successes. Additionally, a new governance structure is working to align AVAREF with the AMRH<sup>14</sup>, which may also be an occasion to expand more rapidly, though close alignment with the AMRH will be critical to ensure harmonization efforts are complementary and not duplicative.

During its first ten years, AVAREF worked with NRAs to assess clinical trial applications. **AVAREF's work has already had real-world impact**; for example, joint reviews through AVAREF helped pave the way for timely approval of the MenAfriVac® vaccine<sup>h</sup>, which has protected more than 270 million Africans from meningitis A<sup>15</sup>. AVAREF has also worked with NRAs to monitor clinical trials and evaluate clinical data in registration dossiers of vaccines. Since its establishment, AVAREF has set innovative regulatory pathways for clinical trials and harmonized guidelines for submission of clinical trial applications<sup>16</sup>. AVAREF's progress was highlighted during the Ebola epidemic in 2014, where joint regulation of vaccine clinical reviews played a critical role in supporting the fast-track approval of clinical trials of Ebola vaccine candidates.

h MenAfriVac is a registered trademark of Serum Institute of India Private Ltd.

#### 2.3. HARMONIZATION AT THE NATIONAL LEVEL

Ultimately, the successful implementation of the Model Law and harmonization across RECs is the responsibility of participating member states. To have any impact, regional legislation must be adopted and enforced by each country.

#### 2.3.1. Kenya case study

In Kenya, **complex national regulatory structures**, as well as fears over loss of sovereignty or loss of potential revenue from application and registration fees, have led to delays in domestication of regional medicine regulatory harmonization. Additionally, domestication requires legislative action that may require parliamentary approval. For example, the government of Kenya has a complex policy framework for medicines regulatory authority and is responsible for the regulation of pharmaceutical products, registration of medicines, and clinical trial approval. Medical device regulation, however, is divided between PPB, the Kenya Bureau of Standards, and the Kenya Radiation Board. The National Commission for Science, Technology, and Innovation provides regulatory oversight.

The number of government entities involved in regulation contributes to a long and complex regulatory pathway that research institutions, manufacturers, and other regulatory sponsors must navigate to register a health product or receive clinical trial clearance. **Preclinical trials, for example, require research permits from six different regulatory agencies.** A draft piece of legislation, however, aims to harmonize national policies related to food and drug regulation and to create an independent national authority, known as the Kenya Food and Drugs Authority (KFDA), with a broader mandate than the PPB. A task force composed of government bodies and technical experts is currently developing the KFDA bill.

In addition to efforts to streamline the medicines regulatory framework, the PPB leads the EAC AMRH initiative's technical working group on quality management systems (QMS). The group developed a compendium to enable partner states to adopt standard quality system requirements.





#### 2.3.2. Burundi case study

Kenya's regulatory system is relatively advanced compared to that in other members of the EAC, whose capacities vary widely. In Burundi, for example, the Directorate of Pharmacy, Medicines, and Laboratories (DPML) functions as the country's medicines regulatory authority. The DPML only regulates medicines—not vaccines, medical devices, or diagnostics—and does not have the capacity to provide oversight for clinical trials. This gap in regulation is largely due to chronic shortages of human, technical, and financial resources; a lack of infrastructure; and an inadequate legal regulatory framework. Harmonization can help solve some of these barriers, and Burundi has fast-tracked the enactment of a legal framework to recognize regulatory decisions made by NRAs of other EAC member states—but stakeholder interviews revealed that this does not yet happen in practice.

#### 2.3.3. South Africa case study

The government of South Africa is working to streamline its **complex regulatory system** and achieve regional alignment through the establishment of the South African Health Products Regulatory Agency (SAHPRA). Under the previous regulatory regime, researchers were required to apply to a number of institutions for clinical trial approval, and the application and approval process often lacked transparency. The Medicines Control Council (MCC), which was responsible for regulating medicines and clinical trials, commonly experienced delays in registration and application backlogs, stemming from insufficient staff and resources, as well as a flood of generic medicines applications.

To solve these problems, **in 2015 Parliament passed an amendment to the Medicines and Related Substances Act** of 1965 to replace the MCC with SAHPRA, an independent, public regulatory agency. Regulatory authority officially shifted to SAHPRA in June 2017<sup>17</sup>. Moving forward, SAHPRA will regulate drugs, vaccines, medical devices and clinical trials. The 2015 amendment also created a framework for the South African government to recognize and align with other regulatory bodies through the AU Model Law—reducing duplication and increasing efficiency. Moreover, the **newly established Institute for Regulatory Science** will first work to develop regulatory capacity of SAHPRA staff, with future plans to scale and support SADC and AMRH capacitystrengthening initiatives<sup>18</sup>. The Zazibona initiative will continue to support SAHPRA in the evaluation of dossiers and the training of evaluators.



#### 2.4. COMMON CHALLENGES TO REGULATORY HARMONIZATION

Though progress has been made, much work remains to achieve the vision of a fully harmonized AMA, and many barriers must be overcome to ensure that promising health technologies are developed, tested, and scaled up to improve health.

#### Harmonization requires a long-term vision and sustained funding

Harmonization is complicated and requires political buy-in and action at multiple levels of government and across governments and regions. Realizing the vision of the AMA will require long-term political commitment of technical and financial resources.

#### Limited and varied capacity

RECs and member states have limited infrastructure and human resources to regulate health technologies, and regulatory authority capacity varies widely from country to country, and from REC to REC. For example, some national regulatory bodies regulate clinical trials, medical devices, and diagnostics, whereas others lack the capacity or mandate to do so. Variations in skill, capacity, language, and resources complicate mutual recognition of regulatory decisions and joint registration.

#### **Overreliance on a small number of funders**

Though governments have shown strong interest, much of the funding for harmonization efforts to date has come from donors such as the World Bank, the UK Department for International Development, and the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation<sup>19</sup>. These donors have been instrumental in initiating harmonization efforts, but a lack of long-term, more varied funding provides challenges for sustainability. Accomplishing the vision of a harmonized AMA will require funding from multiple donors over a long period of time that can leverage domestic investments.

#### Limited bandwidth

Accomplishments of EAC member states, progress by Zazibona in Southern Africa, and AVAREF's success in harmonizing clinical trials for vaccines demonstrate the impact that these initiatives are having, but all of these initiatives are limited in scope. For example, there is currently a gap in the regulation of diagnostics, which are of critical importance to protecting against future epidemics, ensuring timely and appropriate treatment, and preventing antimicrobial resistance (AMR). Additional funding, expertise, staffing, and political will are required to expand current efforts to more closely align with the vision of a harmonized medicines regulation agency.

#### Additional barriers include:

- loss of sovereignty,
- potential loss of user fees/revenue,
- political timelines that do not align with innovation timelines,
- lack of enforcement of international standards at a national level,
- limited capacity and bandwidth to conduct joint activities,
- delayed implementation and absence of a clear regulatory pathway, and
- regional conflicts that result in deprioritization of harmonization.

#### **Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Plan for Africa**

The Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Plan for Africa (PMPA), endorsed by the AU in 2007, aims to strengthen capacity of pharmaceutical manufacturers on the continent to produce high-quality, affordable medicines. The PMPA serves as a vehicle for enforcing good manufacturing practice standards and serves as a platform for joint inspections. A robust local pharmaceutical sector will increase access to essential medicines, ensure a sustainable supply, and lead to improved public health outcomes, as well as industrial and economic development.

The PMPA and AMRH initiative are closely aligned—in fact, the AMRH initiative grew out of recognition that an enabling environment for medicines regulation is necessary for the pharmaceutical industry to flourish<sup>20</sup>. NRAs have a significant bearing on pharmaceutical industry activities through oversight, application review, GMP certification, and inspection. Therefore, harmonized, high-functioning regulatory systems are critical for improving access to medicines as well as for promoting regional pharmaceutical capacity<sup>21</sup>.



# 3. MAPPING OF JOINT EU-AFRICA EFFORTS ON HARMONIZATION

As the leading trading partner and a global leader in STI, and as the political body with one of the most harmonized medical regulatory systems in the world, **the EU is the ideal partner to support regulatory harmonization in Africa**. The EU has already made bold investments in research and development for new tools to prevent and treat PRNDs, many of which are having lifesaving impact. For example, EU funding has contributed to the development of nearly half of new malaria drugs registered since 2000, including support for the first first-line malaria drug designed specifically to treat children<sup>22</sup>.

The development of new products is critical, but for the products to have impact they must get into the hands of people in need. Increasing investments in the strengthening of regulatory systems in LMICs is one important way the EU can build upon its already strong support for the development of lifesaving tools for PRNDs. With its own harmonized regulatory system—**the EMA**—the EU is uniquely positioned to support harmonization efforts across Africa.

The EU is currently involved in some activities related to strengthening regulatory capacity, including activities supporting harmonization in sub-Saharan Africa, via the EMA<sup>23</sup>, the EDCTP<sup>24</sup>, and the ACP-EU partnership, but there is greater opportunity for increased engagement and support. In the coming years, EU policymakers will be tasked with renewing two major frameworks that guide relations between the EU and Africa and will also be renewing and deciding priorities for a number of significant funding mechanisms—all with the potential to increase access to lifesaving products and drive greater partnership between the EU and Africa in support of regulatory harmonization.

#### Policy Frameworks and Financing Mechanisms Central to EU-Africa Collaboration on Regulatory Harmonization

#### **OVERARCHING POLICY FRAMEWORKS**

#### Joint Africa-EU Strategy (JAES)

- Primary political framework guiding cooperation between the EU and Africa.
- The HLPD is one way the JAES is implemented; current focuses have been on food security, nutrition,
- sustainable agriculture, and on climate change, and sustainable energy.
- The current JAES roadmap expires in 2017.

#### **Cotonou Agreement**

eppendorf Research plus

- Provides a legal basis for relations and sets priorities for cooperation between the EU and the ACP states)
- Expires in 2020.
- **Consensus on Development**
- Provides the framework for a common approach to development policy across EU institutions and EU Member States.
- New Consensus was adopted in 2017.

#### **FINANCING MECHANISMS**

#### **European Development Fund**

- Primary source of funding for implementation of the objectives of the ACP-EU partnership; also contributes to the objectives of the JAES.
- Financed directly through Member State contributions and jointly programd with the ACP states.
- Responsible DG: DEVCO.

#### **Development Cooperation Instrument**

- Provides some funding for implementation of the JAES.
- Responsible DG: DEVCO.

#### **European Developing Clinical Trials Partnership**

- Public-public partnership with a mission to accelerate the development of new technologies to prevent, diagnose, and treat PRNDs.
- Funded on a matched funding model with funds from the EC and European Participating States.
- Responsible DG: RTD.

#### Innovative Medicines Initiative

- Mission is to foster collaboration between European pharmaceutical companies and to accelerate the development of safe and effective medicines.
- Responsible DG: RTD.

20

#### **European Medicines Agency (EMA)**

The EMA was established in 1995 with the goal of harmonizing NRAs across EU member states as well as the European Free Trade Association (EFTA) states of Iceland, Liechtenstein, and Norway. The EMA is responsible for the regulation of health products developed for use in the EU. As the centralized body, the EMA works closely with the NRAs that make up the participating members of the EU and EFTA to share expertise and safety information regarding new medical products. The EMA establishes guidelines to direct the development of high-quality products and provides product-specific guidance to innovators. The EMA's centralized procedure allows for the submission of a single application and assessment that allows for marketing of a new product across the EU. EU regulatory policy also allows companies to apply through a decentralized procedure where they can apply for simultaneous review in multiple EU member states or for mutual recognition, where companies can request that previous authorizations be recognized in additional EU member states<sup>25</sup>.

Though the EMA was formally established in 1995, countries across Europe put into place a legal framework for harmonization beginning in 1965, demonstrating that harmonization is not a quick process.

The EMA offers a unique example of the benefits of regulatory harmonization for regulators across African RECs. African regulators working to advance the AMRH initiative in the EAC recently visited the EMA and held two days of meetings to see what lessons they could use to further advance their own harmonization efforts<sup>26</sup>. Following the meetings, the heads of the member states' NRAs, together with the EAC Secretariat, agreed upon five next steps, which included establishing a clear framework for decision-making, developing fee structures to support joint regulatory services, and strengthening collaboration between the EAC and the EMA, specifically with the goal of capacity-building on the use of Article 58.

Article 58 is a mechanism within the EMA that, in cooperation with the WHO, can provide a scientific opinion for the evaluation of drugs and vaccines intended for use exclusively in markets outside of the EU and can expedite prequalification by WHO, which in turn accelerates registration at the national level. This scientific opinion must then be adopted by NRAs. To be eligible for this mechanism, products must be used to treat diseases of major public health interest, including HIV/AIDS, malaria, TB, and other neglected diseases. To date, seven products have gone through this mechanism<sup>27</sup>.

The two high-level frameworks that guide the EU's funding and partnership priorities as they relate to cooperation with Africa are the JAES and the Cotonou Agreement. Both frameworks are coming up for renewal and will present opportunities to bolster greater support for health, R&I for PRNDs and harmonization. An additional framework, the new Consensus on Development, sits alongside the JAES and Cotonou Agreement and provides a common approach to development across the EU institutions and member states. Together, these guiding frameworks help set priorities and provide guidance for implementation across the EU and, because of their focus on Africa and development, help determine how the EU may provide support for regulatory harmonization in Africa.

#### **3.1. JOINT AFRICA-EU STRATEGY**

The JAES, adopted by the African and EU Heads of State in 2007, is the primary political framework guiding cooperation between both regions. The JAES is implemented via roadmaps that are revisited every three years. The current roadmap (2014–2017) focuses on five priority areas<sup>1</sup>, which include peace, sustainable human development and growth, and emerging global issues. Among the overall objectives of the partnership, the JAES aims at promoting regulatory and policy reform and convergence in Africa. Current reform and convergence efforts focus on trade integration, private-sector development, official statistics, and the information, communications, and technology sector<sup>28</sup>. Promoting harmonization for health regulation in Africa, though not a current focus, fits within the overall scope of the JAES and is a potential opportunity for alignment<sup>29</sup>. The JAES does explicitly acknowledge the **importance of promoting STI**, and STI is recognized as a cross-cutting theme to achieve all five of the JAES priorities<sup>30</sup>.

One important element of the JAES strategy is the HLPD, which was established in 2010 to serve as a regular platform for exchanges around STI. The HLPD is the primary platform for deciding on the most important STI areas for collaboration and has a

i JAES priorities are: peace and security; democracy, good governance, and human rights; human development; sustainable and inclusive development and growth and continental integration; global and emerging issues.



critical role in shaping future areas of focus for the JAES. For example, during the second HLPD in 2013, a R&I partnership on food security, nutrition, and sustainable agriculture was launched, with a dedicated roadmap adopted in 2016. A second partnership with a focus on climate change and sustainable energy is expected to be launched in October 2017. These partnerships aim at mobilizing public and private actors and supporting capacity-building and coordination efforts with a long-term goal of promoting enabling environments for R&I.

Much has changed since the development of the current JAES roadmap in 2014 and the last convening of the HLPD in 2016. **Outbreaks of Ebola and Zika and the worsening threat of AMR** have reprioritized the need for a stronger focus on epidemic preparedness and system readiness. At the same time, as shown through the progress of harmonization efforts in the EAC, Zazibona, and AVAREF, countries in Africa have demonstrated their ability and desire to expand local and regional innovation capacity. **Consideration should be given to launching a third research and innovation partnership on global health, including with a focus on policy and regulatory harmonization.** 

### **3.2. COTONOU AGREEMENT**

The Cotonou Agreement provides a legal basis for relations and sets priorities for cooperation between the EU and the ACP states<sup>31</sup>. Within its priorities for the development strategies, ACP and EU collaboration should support capacity-building in social areas, including policies conducive to technological R&I. Under the Cotonou Agreement umbrella sits the African, Caribbean, and Pacific EU Science and Technology Program (ACP S&T Program II), which is focused on strengthening STI as a means of poverty reduction, addressing the STI divide between the ACP states, and building capacity in ACP states. Under the previous S&T Programs (phase 1 was in 2000–2006 and phase 2 in 2007–2013), health represented a small fraction of the funded projects, which focused on the two priority areas of energy access and efficiency, and agriculture and food security<sup>32</sup>. Though health has not been a priority area of focus, a few relevant global health initiatives have come out of the ACP S&T Prorgram II, such as an initiative to promote policy convergence on disease surveillance in the Caribbean<sup>33</sup>.

The Cotonou Agreement expires in 2020, and discussions for its successor are already under way, with official negotiations set to take place over 18 months starting in 2018<sup>34</sup>. One of the scenarios proposed by the EC is to establish a joint agreement with ACP states under a common umbrella and with regional partnerships that will "build on and integrate" existing ones such as the JAES<sup>35</sup>. The revision should focus on updating the framework to address changes that have taken place in recent years, including the adoption of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and a number of global health-specific challenges. As this process coincides with changes to the JAES STI program, and the next R&I FP (FP9), there is a critical opportunity to promote coherence and synergy between different programs to maximize the impacts of EU policies, which share common objectives but lack specific coordination mechanisms<sup>36</sup>, and to address the fragmentation of the EU and EU member states' initiatives on STI for development in Africa<sup>37</sup>.

#### 3.3. NEW EUROPEAN CONSENSUS ON DEVELOPMENT

Alongside the JAES and Cotonou Agreement, the European Consensus on Development provides the framework for a common approach to development policy across EU institutions and member states. The Consensus on Development guides EU development policy and funding priorities, including work funded through the **DCI** and the **EDF**. The newly adopted 2017 Consensus on Development outlines how the EU will accomplish the SDGs and recognizes the importance of promoting research and investment in the development of new health technologies, as well as the importance of supporting partner countries to address global health threats and pursue a 'health in all policies' approach. As decisions are made regarding the future of the JAES and the Cotonou Agreement, priorities should be aligned with the Consensus on Development and the SDGs. **Harmonization can be a key tool to realizing the health priorities outlined in the Consensus**.

#### **3.4. EUROPEAN COMMISSION**

Multiple Directorate-Generals (DGs) are responsible for implementing and carrying out the visions and priorities laid out in the JAES, Cotonou Agreement, and Consensus on Development. This mapping is not exhaustive and focuses on the roles of the different DGs as they relate to or have the potential to relate to regulatory harmonization in Africa.

#### 3.4.1. Directorate-General for International Cooperation and Development

DG DEVCO is responsible for the development of aid policy and implementation and manages the EU's primary development funding instruments, including the EDF and the DCI.

#### **European Development Fund**

The EDF makes up the largest of the EU's development funding instruments<sup>i</sup>. Established through the Cotonou Agreement, it serves as the primary source of funding for the implementation of the objectives of the ACP-EU partnership and complements the DCI in development aid to Africa. The EDF is unique in that it is not funded through the EU's general budget, but is financed directly through member state contributions, and is jointly programd with the ACP states. Negotiations around the future of the Cotonou Agreement may include a review of this arrangement with an eye towards incorporating it into the EU's general budget process to allow for greater parliamentary oversight and alignment. In the past, EDF investments have been used to support some harmonization activities. For example, funding from the EDF provided support for the EU/ACP/WHO Renewed Partnership (2012-2016) for strengthening pharmaceutical systems and improving access to high-quality essential medicines – a partnership between DG DEVCO, the ACP Secretariat, and the WHO Department of Essential Medicines and Health Products. One focus of this partnership was support for RECs to harmonize medicines regulation<sup>38</sup>. This partnership resulted in the harmonization of policies and regulations for seven subregional groups and set up schemes for pooled procurement mechanisms<sup>39</sup>. For example, through the partnership, ECOWAS began developing shared guidelines for GMP and product registration. The EU/ACP/ WHO partnership is now funded under the DCI<sup>k</sup> (cf. below). Though the current EDF (which provides funding from 2014-2020) does not have a specific objective on regulatory harmonization for health, it does provide limited funding to build the R&I capacities of ACP states under a regional envelope called Intra ACP. Likewise, the EU collaboration with some regions-such as the SADC, the EAC, and Eastern Africa, Southern Africa, and the Indian Ocean-foresees actions on industrial development strategy for pharmaceuticals (and other sectors), including improving the regulatory environment and regional economic integration. This collaboration could be extended to global health.

k The DCI has provided 750,000 euros for the period between 2016 through 2018.

j The budget for EDF is 30.5 billion euros for the period from 2014 through 2020.



In the future, funding through the EDF could provide support for AMRH initiatives, particularly in RECs like ECOWAS that are starting to show some progress but lack funding and resources to move forward. This would require an agreement with the ACP states and with EU member states in the framework of EDF programming negotiations.

#### **Development Cooperation Instrument**

DG DEVCO also has oversight over the DCI. Though much of the funding for the DCI focuses on the geographies of Latin America and Asia, a portion of the DCI has been carved out to support the newly established PANAF, which is meant to support the implementation of the JAES. The PANAF has previously provided funding to policy and harmonization efforts in the areas of information and communications technologies, so it may be primed to fund harmonization for health regulation<sup>40</sup>. The DCI is positioned to provide funding for future harmonization activities, particularly if in the future, the JAES includes a more explicit focus on regulatory harmonization.

#### 3.4.2. Directorate-General for Research and Innovation

Responsible for defining and implementing EU research and innovation policy, the DG RTD has a strong yet under-acknowledged role to play in achieving the visions of the JAES, the Cotonou Agreement, and the Consensus on Development. The mechanism under DG RTD's mandate with the clearest link to harmonization is the **EDCTP**. Opportunities also exist to strengthen support for harmonization through the IMI and the bi-annual work program of the R&I FPs (currently Horizon 2020, and the future FP9).

#### **European and Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership**

EDCTP is a public-public partnership with a mission to accelerate the development of new technologies to prevent, diagnose, and treat PRNDs. This focus makes EDCTP a natural fit to provide support for harmonization in sub-Saharan Africa. EDCTP is funded on a model of matched funding, where the EU provides a certain amount<sup>1</sup> based on matching contributions (cash or in-kind) by European EDCTP Participating States. African Participating States also contribute to EDCTP's budget. Funding to projects is provided through grants via calls for proposals to address certain topics under EDCTP's scope. Though regulatory harmonization has not been a strong focus of EDCTP funding, EDCTP2's Strategic Business Plan 2014–2024 states that they will work "to establish an enabling environment for research, particularly by helping sub-Saharan Africa countries to strengthen their ethical, regulatory and legal frameworks for research, ensuring they are able to host clinical studies consistent with international standards and respecting local regulations"<sup>41</sup>. In support of this objective,

EDCTP2 will receive up to 683 million euros of EU funding over a 10-year period.



EDCTP has issued a number of calls to provide funding for capacity-strengthening for national ethics committees and NRAs<sup>m</sup>; in August 2017, EDCTP issued a call that specifically encouraged proposals to contain activities including regional collaborative bodies such as the AMRH initiative<sup>42</sup>.

EDCTP is also a partner of the **Council on Health Research and Development** (**COHRED**), a nonprofit organization focused on strengthening innovation capacity in LMICs. COHRED offers technical support to strengthen innovation systems and set priorities; tools such as the RHInnO Ethics, a cloud-based management system to help strengthen ethics reviews; and opportunities for constituencies to share best practices and share new ideas<sup>43</sup>.

**EDCTP2 is primed to scale up support for harmonization.** Its unique governance structure<sup>n</sup> may also act as a collaborative model to increase and strengthen participation from African partners for harmonization activities. An additional opportunity may be to pair participating EU member states with participating African countries to act as technical advisors to build regulatory capacity.

#### **Innovative Medicines Initiative**

This joint technology initiative is another mechanism with potential to support harmonization efforts. The IMI's focus is to foster collaboration between European pharmaceutical companies and to accelerate the development of safe and effective medicines. Though primarily focused on advancing health for Europeans and boosting innovation in the EU, recent and emerging health threats have led the IMI to invest in the development of global health products. In response to the 2014 Ebola epidemic, IMI launched eight projects to speed the development and scale-up of vaccines and diagnostics to prevent and diagnose Ebola<sup>44</sup>. IMI has also launched the world's biggest public-private AMR research partnership, the Bad Bugs Programme. This program could have additional implications for global health, as the threat of AMR to current treatments for PRNDs such as TB, malaria, and diarrheal disease is growing. Consideration should be given to how IMI can ensure close coordination with EDCTP, particularly in epidemic and AMR preparedness. For example, harmonization to accelerate clinical trial reviews in Africa may be an area for increased collaboration.

IMI's governing board consists of equal members of the EC and the European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industries and Associations (EFPIA), which represents the EU research-based pharmaceutical industry. Increasing IMI's focus on regulatory harmonization would require agreement between the two groups on the importance of prioritization. m In its first phase, EDCTP1 (2004–2013) launched 13 calls and awarded 78 grants to support the establishment of ethics and regulatory frameworks for clinical trials in African countries and supported work towards a common regulatory framework at the regional level. EDCTP1 also provided support to AVAREF and contributed to setting up the Pan African Clinical Trials Registry (PACTR).

n EDCTP's governance structure is made up of 28 countries, including 14 in Europe and 14 in sub-Saharan Africa, which are full and equal partners.

#### 8th R&I Framework Program (Horizon 2020)

Horizon 2020 and previous FPs have been the primary mechanism used to fund research and development for PRNDs in the EU. Funding is organized within different priorities, including one dedicated to health, demographic change, and well-being (societal challenge 1) that included funding calls for PRND research. Funding through previous FPs and Horizon 2020 has also provided support to STI coordination activities. This includes funding for **Caast-Net Plus and RINEA—platforms** focused on strengthening cooperation around research and development between the AU and EU. Though neither of these platforms has had a major focus on regulatory harmonization for global health, their mandates are broad enough that this could play a larger role in the future. Caast-Net Plus offers a broad platform for increased engagement between the EU and the AU and includes a focus on health, and RINEA helps support the function of the JAES HLPD on STI. These or similar future platforms may offer additional opportunities for regulatory coordination and harmonization.

Because the FP also provides funding to the JAES STI, EDCTP, and IMI, the future 9th R&I FP (Horizon2020 ends in 2020), so-called **'FP9'**, will have a critical role to play in ensuring that current barriers and gaps to the development and scale-up of new global health technologies, including regulatory barriers, are addressed. As negotiations occur around FP9, consideration should be given to how FP9 can strategically use its funding in support of harmonization activities through coordination and support action grants (CSAs).

#### **Coordination and Support Action Grants within Horizon 2020**

Within Horizon 2020, there is a specific grant modality called CSAs, which does not focus on research but instead on accompanying measures such as standardization, dissemination, and policy dialogues. The EU uses different models of partnership and collaboration that could support actions to promote regulatory harmonization and coordination between Africa and Europe. The models include:

- Joint Programming Initiatives (JPIs). These are coordination models for countries (public stakeholders only) based on concerted and joint planning, implementation, and evaluation of their research programs on areas of common interest. Thus, JPIs could potentially help to identify and develop specific actions around regulatory harmonization of medicines in Africa. As an illustration, the JPI-Water<sup>45</sup>, composed of 18 EU countries and South Africa, aims at improving the harmonization, alignment, and coordination of their water R&I agendas and frameworks.
- European Innovation Partnership (EIP). This initiative was created under the Europe 2020 flagship Innovation Union to break down research silos in key societal challenges, accelerate R&D innovation, and pool public and private expertise and resources. The first EIP focused on healthy aging; it aimed to mobilize EU institutions and member states to screen their regulatory frameworks in this area to jointly identify the rules that had to be improved, updated, or replaced to provide sufficient and continuous incentives to drive innovation<sup>46</sup>. This EIP also includes as a horizontal objective the development of regulatory and standardization frameworks "to facilitate and enable deployment of innovative solutions...as well as to ensure clarity, flexibility, and robustness of the legal system"<sup>47</sup>. While non-EU actors can participate in EIPs, de facto, this has been very limited. A recent official evaluation report recommended that EIPs open to actors from outside of Europe, "whose input would be invaluable with respect to solutions to the grand societal challenges and the international opportunities for European firms"<sup>48</sup>.
- Lead-market initiatives (LMIs). Launched from 2008 to 2011 in six strategic areas (including e-health), LMIs are demand-side innovation policy instruments. As an illustration of the potential of this instrument, the projects CALLIOPE<sup>49</sup> and EpSOS<sup>50</sup> supported the development of interoperable e-health networks, which respectively contributed to the harmonization and standardization of the e-health field in the EU and to the development of a legal, technical, and organizational blueprint for medical care processes in the EU.
- ERA-NET. ERA-NET supports public-public partnerships or initiatives (e.g., JPI) developing transnational research and/or innovation projects through joint calls. It also co-funded FP-based projects such as ERAfrica, a pilot initiative to develop and implement joint funding programs for research and innovation partnerships from Africa and Europe and promote African partners to contribute to the JAES STI agenda<sup>51</sup>. ERAfrica2 is currently being discussed. Similarly, ERA-NET has also co-funded the partnership LEAP-AGRI, a Horizon 2020 project that contributes to the implementation of the JAES partnership on food security, nutrition and sustainable agriculture.



#### 3.4.3. Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety

Though DG SANTE's primary focus is on promoting the health of Europeans, it is also responsible for policy related to the pharmaceutical sector and is critical to oversight of the EMA and, notably, its Article 58.

One of the unique tools of the EMA, **Article 58 is a mechanism by which the EMA, in cooperation with the WHO, can provide a scientific opinion for the evaluation of drugs and vaccines intended for use exclusively in markets outside the EU.** Article 58 is also aligned with WHO prequalification (PQ) mechanisms and can expedite PQ processes. This scientific opinion must then be adopted by NRAs in countries where the technology will be used. To be eligible for this mechanism, products must be used to treat diseases of major public health interest, including HIV/AIDS, malaria, TB, and other PRNDs. The EMA enacted Article 58 in 2004 in response to the need to protect public health and to give scientific assistance to non-member countries while allowing for faster access to important new medical products outside of the EU. The EMA and WHO decide on a caseby-case basis whether a product falls within the mandate of Article 58.

Though Article 58 holds great potential for improving access to lifesaving health products and strengthening regulatory capacity, this potential has yet to be fully leveraged. Since its introduction in 2004, only seven products have used the procedure. A recent review of Article 58 identified the lack of collaboration with NRAs (including limited awareness of the mechanism among NRAs) as a barrier to Article 58 realizing its full potential<sup>52</sup>. An additional challenge is that NRAs are often slow to approve products, even once they have received a positive opinion as a result of Article 58. This problem is compounded by the fact that many NRAs do not trust the quality of the Article 58 opinion. One opportunity to address these challenges and build on recent harmonization efforts in Africa would be to establish stronger collaboration between the EMA and NRAs during the review process that will accompany efforts to implement the AMRH initiative in RECs across Africa. This desire for closer coordination came out strongly in the recent visit between regulators in the EAC and regulators at the EMA (mentioned earlier in this paper). Collaborative reviews could help strengthen capacities across Africa while at the same time accelerating the approval of positive EMA opinions.



# **4. RECOMMENDATIONS**





# Establish a joint EU/AU expert group on global health to strengthen African research and innovation capacity

An expert group under the management of the EC should be established to focus on global health. The goal of the group should be to develop a joint strategy for collaboration on global health R&I between the EU and AU, including the identification of priority areas for collaboration to strengthen global health R&I capacity across Africa. The expert group should be composed of representatives from the EU, the AU and member states and technical experts from academia, civil society and the private sector. For example, this model has been used successfully in the creation of expert groups through the JAES HLPD which has set up groups on food security, nutrition, and sustainable agriculture, and climate change, and sustainable energy.

# Improve synergies between DGs through the development of a joint science, technology, and innovation for development (STI4D) strategy

The EC should further promote complementarity between EDCTP calls, Horizon 2020, development funds, and member state activities. To accomplish this, the EC should develop a joint strategy on STI4D, ensuring regulatory convergence and harmonization are cross cutting priorities, particularly between DG RTD and DG DEVCO. For instance the collaboration through the Knowledge, Statistics and Data Hub Unit may serve as a basis for further joint efforts. Deepening of this type of collaboration specifically on STI4D, will help responsibilities and promote knowledge sharing to improve synergies between DGs for global health R&D and harmonization.



#### Utilize funding instruments to support regulatory strengthening and harmonization

- The EC should make funds available through mechanisms such as the PANAF under the DCI and the EDF and its regional envelops, to provide additional support for regulatory harmonization in Africa, including for the AMRH Initiative. For example, funds from H2020 could be paired with funding from the PANAF in support of the AMRH initiative.
- To maximize critical EU investment, the EC should explore ways to leverage funding to diversify the funding base for global health R&I and regulatory harmonization. This can be accomplished using co-funded activities or by creating new incentives, like matching funds, for investments from the private sector and AU member states. For example, co funded programs like ERAfrica, could be expanded to include funding for regulatory harmonization.

### Increase resources for technical assistance activities in support of regulatory harmonization in Africa.

The EMA should increase resources for technical assistance activities that strengthen the capacity of African regulators, and help align regulatory standards across the region, and avoid regulatory duplication. This should include increased technical support through existing mechanisms like Article 58 and regular meetings with African regulators to share best practices and lessons learned in support of regulatory harmonization. FUNDING



### REFERENCES

1. Giovannini E, Niestroy I, Nilsson M, Roure F, Spanos M. The Role of Science, Technology and Innovation Policies to Foster the Implementation of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Brussels: European Commission Directorate-General for Research and Innovation; 2015. Available at ec.europa.eu/newsroom/horizon2020/document.cfm?doc\_id=12065.

2. World Health Organization (WHO). Local Production and Technology Transfer to Increase Access to Medical Devices: Addressing the Barriers and Challenges in Low- and Middle-Income Countries. Geneva: WHO; 2012. Available at http://www.who.int/medical\_devices/1240EHT\_final.pdf?ua=1.

3. Ahonkhai V, Martins SF, Portet A, Lumpkin M, Hartman D. Speeding access to vaccines and medicines in low- and middle-income countries: a case for change and a framework for optimized product market authorization. PLOS One. 2016;11(11):e0166515. Available at http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0166515.

4. Mundel T. Accelerating access to lifesaving health products in Africa. Medium. 19 January 2017. Available at https://medium.com/@trevormundel/accelerating-access-to-lifesaving-health-products-in-africa-472338c9430a.

5. African Medicines Regulatory Harmonization (AMRH) Newsletter. July to September 2016.

6. Mutume G. Africa aims for a scientific revolution. AfricaRenewal Online. October 2007. Available at http://www.un.org/africarenewal/magazine/october-2007/africa-aims-scientific-revolution.

7. The African Medicines Regulatory Harmonization (AMRH) Initiative: accomplishments, challenges and path forward. Presented at: 17th International Conference of Drug Regulatory Authorities, 27 November–2 December 2016: Cape Town, South Africa. Available at http://www.icdra.co.za/images/Presentions\_Sunday/Sun\_27\_Nov\_09h00\_Ndomondo\_Sigonda.pdf.

8. Moyo Y. No more delays: accelerating access to medicine. Africa Health Business Symposium. 7 March 2017. Available at http://www.africahealthbusiness.com/no-more-delays-accelerating-access-to-medicine/.

9. Luthuli N, Robles W. Africa Medicines Regulatory Harmonization Initiatives. San Diego, CA: WCG; 2017. Available at http:// www.wcgcares.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/White-Paper-on-Africa-Harmonization-Initiatives-FINAL-041817.pdf.

10. European & Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership (EDCTP). EDCTP Calls for Proposals: Ethics and Regulatory Capacities. Call identifier: CSA2017ERC. Available at http://www.edctp.org/call/ethics-regulatory-capacities-3/.

**11**. Improving the quality of medical products for universal access page. World Health Organization website. Available at http://www.who.int/medicines/regulation/fact-figures-qual-med/en/.

12. Intergovernmental Authority on Development (IGAD). IGAD seeks support for the first ever medicines regulation regional initiative. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: IGAD; 8 January 2017. Available at https://igad.int/divisions/economic-cooperation-and-social-development/health/1610-igad-seeks-support-for-the-first-ever-medicines-regulation-regional-initiative.

13. Akanmori BD, Mukanga DO, Mihigo R, Ward M, Ahonkhai V, Moeti MR. New development of medicines for priority diseases in Africa. The Lancet. 2016;388:1053-1054. Available at http://www.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/lancet/PIIS0140-6736(16)31544-6.pdf.

14. European & Developing Countries Clinical Trial Partnership (EDCTP). EDCTP Update. April 2017.

Available at http://www.edctp.org/web/app/uploads/2017/06/EDCTP-Update-April-2017.pdf.

15. Ending meningitis A in Africa page. PATH website. Available at https://www.path.org/menafrivac/overview.php.

**16**. Akanmori B, Bellah A, Ward M, Rago L. The African Vaccine Regulatory Forum: a platform for collaboration in a public health emergency. WHO Drug Information. 2015;29(2):127–131. Available at http://www.who. int/medicines/publications/druginformation/WHO\_DI\_29-2\_RegulatoryCollaboration.pdf.

**17.** Gumede M. New regulator will also oversee medical devices. Business Live (South Africa). 2 June 2017. Available at https://www.businesslive.co.za/bd/national/health/2017-06-02-new-regulator-will-also-oversee-medical-devices/.

**18**. African Union, New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD), World Health Organization. Regulatory Systems Strengthening for Advancing Research, Innovation and Local Pharmaceutical Production in Africa. Conference report of 2nd Biennial Scientific Conference on Medicines Regulation in Africa. Randjespark, South Africa: NEPAD; 2017. Available at www.nepad.org/download/file/fid/5188&usg=AFQjCNGPFPQvjYm5IHU8HOYaNzbelLlmaA.

**19.** PATH. Medicines Regulation in the East African Community: Landscape Summary Report. Seattle, WA: PATH; 2016. Available at http://www.path.org/publications/files/APP\_eac\_reg\_summary.pdf.

20. New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD). African Medicines Regulatory Harmonization Program Plan for Implementation of PMPA: Strategic Plan 2016–2020. Midrand, South Africa: NEPAD; 2016. Available at http://www.nepad.org/resource/african-medicines-regulatory-harmonization-program-plan-implementation-pmpa-strategic.

21. New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD). African Medicines Regulatory Harmonization (AMRH) Program Contribution to the African Union (AU) Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Plan for Africa (PMPA) [policy brief]. Midrand, South Africa: NEPAD; 2012. Available at http://www.nepad.org/download/file/fid/4695%20.

22. PolicyCures, DSW. Saving Lives: Making the Case for European Investment in Poverty-Related and Neglected Disease R&D [fact sheet]. Sydney, Australia: PolicyCures and Brussels: DSW; 2016. Available at http://www.dsw. org/en/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Making-the-case-for-EU-investment-in-GH-RD-two-pager.pdf.

23. EMA supports regulatory harmonization in East Africa. London, UK: European Medicines Agency; 8 August 2017. Available at http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/index.jsp?curl=pages/news\_and\_events/news/2017/08/news\_detail\_002795.jsp&mid=WC0b01ac058004d5c1.

24. European & Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership (EDCTP). EDCTP Calls for Proposals: Ethics and Regulatory Capacities. Call identifier: CSA2017ERC. Available at http://www.edctp.org/call/ethics-regulatory-capacities-3/. EMA supports regulatory harmonization in East Africa. London, UK: European Medicines Agency; 8 August 2017. Available at http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/index.jsp?curl=pages/news\_and\_events/news/2017/08/news\_detail\_002795.jsp&mid=WC0b01ac058004d5c1.

REFERENCES

25. European Medicines Agency (EMA). The European Regulatory System for Medicines: A Consistent Approach to Medicines Regulation Across the European Union. London: EMA; 2016. Available at http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en\_GB/document\_library/Leaflet/2014/08/WC500171674.pdf.

26. European Medicines Agency (EMA). Report of East African Community Benchmarking Visit to the European Medicines Agency, 18-19 May 2017: Part of the East African Community Medicines Regulatory Harmonization (EAC-MRH) Project. London: EMA; 2017. Available at http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en\_GB/document\_library/Report/2017/07/WC500232347.pdf.

27. European Medicines Agency (EMA). Improving the Perception and Use of the Article 58 Procedure: An Action Plan for 2015-2017. London: EMA; 2015. Available at http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en\_GB/document\_library/Other/2015/12/WC500199072.pdf.

28. The Africa-EU Strategic Partnership: A Joint Africa-EU Strategy. Lisbon: Council of the European Union; 2007.

Available at http://www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cms\_data/docs/pressdata/en/er/97496.pdf.

29. C.f. Joint Africa-EU Strategic Partnership (2007).

**30**. Fourth EU-Africa Summit, 2-3 April 2014, Brussels: Roadmap 2014-2017. Available at http://www.africa-eupartnership.org/sites/default/files/documents/2014\_04\_01\_4th\_eu-africa\_summit\_roadmap\_en.pdf.

31. Secretariat ACP page. African, Caribbean, and Pacific Group of States (ACP) website. Available at http://www.acp.int/content/secretariat-acp.

**32**. European Commission. Roadmap for EU–African Union S&T Cooperation. Brussels: European Commission; 2016. Available at http://ec.europa.eu/research/iscp/pdf/policy/roadmaps\_africa-2016.pdf#view=fit&pagemode=none.

33. One Health in the Caribbean website. Available at https://www.onehealthcaribbean.org/.

34. Donor Tracker website. Available at https://donortracker.org/country/eu.

**35**. European Commission High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy. Joint Communication to the European Parliament and the Council: A Renewed Partnership with the Countries of Africa, the Caribbean and the Pacific. Strasbourg: European Commission; 2016. Available at https://ec.europa.eu/europeaid/sites/devco/files/joint-communication-renewed-partnership-acp-20161122\_en.pdf.

**36**. C.f. Giovanni E, Niestroy I, Nilsson M, Roure F, Spanos M. The Role of Science, Technology and Innovation Policies to Foster the Implementation of the Sustainable Development Goals. Brussels; European Commission Directorate-General for Research and Innovation; 2015. Available at https://ec.europa.eu/programs/horizon2020/en/news/role-science-technology-and-innovation-policies-foster-implementation-sustainable-development.

**37**. Mapping of Best Practice Regional and Multi-Country Cooperative STI Initiatives Between Africa and Europe. Brussels: European Commission; 2014. Available at https://ec.europa.eu/research/iscp/pdf/publications/ki0413196enn.pdf.

**38**. The EU/ACP/WHO Renewed Partnership 2012–2016 for Strengthening Pharmaceutical Systems and Improving Access to Quality Essential Medicines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014. Available at http://www.who.int/medicines/areas/coordination/rp\_brochure\_EN.pdf?ua=1.

**39.** First EC/ACP/WHO Partnership on Pharmaceutical Policies page. World Health Organization website. Available at http://www.who.int/medicines/areas/coordination/ecacpwho\_partnership/en/index1.html.

40. Harmonizing telecommunications page. The Africa-EU Partnership website. Available at http://

www.africa-eu-partnership.org/en/success-stories/harmonizing-telecommunications.

41. European & Developing Countries Clinical Trial Partnership (EDCTP). EDCTP Strategic Business Plan for 2014–2024. The Hague, The Netherlands: EDCTP; 2016: 8. Available at http://www.edctp.org/web/app/uploads/2016/12/EDCTP-Strategic-Business-Plan-2014-2024.pdf.

42. European & Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership (EDCTP). EDCTP Calls for Proposals: Ethics and Regulatory Capacities. Call identifier: CSA2017ERC. Available at http://www.edctp.org/call/ethics-regulatory-capacities-3/.

43. Who we are page. Council on Health Research for Development (COHRED) page. Available at http://www.cohred.org/our-mission/.

44. First Innovative Medicines Initiative Ebola projects get underway. Brussels, Belgium: Innovative Medicines

Initiative; 16 January 2015. Available at http://www.imi.europa.eu/content/ebola-project-launch.

45. Water Joint Programming Initiative, Key Achievements 2011-2016. April 2016. Available at http:// www.wateripi.eu/images/documents/WATER\_JPI\_Key\_Achievements.pdf.

46. EIP on AHA portal page. The European Innovation Partnership Website. Available at https://ec.europa.eu/eip/ageing/home\_en.

**47**. Strategic Implementation Plan for the EIP Active and Healthy Ageing. Brussels, Belgium: Steering Group of the European Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy Ageing; 17 November 2011. Available at https://ec.europa.eu/research/innovation-union/pdf/active-healthy-ageing/steering-group/implementation\_plan.pdf

**48**. Outriders for European Competitiveness, European Innovation Partnerships (EIPs) as a Tool for Systematic Change. Brussels, Belgium: Report of the Independent Expert Group, European Union; 2014. Available at https://ec.europa.eu/research/innovationunion/pdf/outriders\_for\_europeancom petitiveness\_eip.pdf

49. Calliope project page. Community Research and Development Information Service European

 $Commission \ we bsite. \ Available \ at \ http://cordis.europa.eu/project/rcn/191698\_en.html.$ 

50. epSOS website. Available at http://www.epsos.eu/home.html

51. ERAfrica website. Available at http://www.erafrica.eu/

52. Defining the Strategic Vision for the EMA 'Article 58' Process. 2015. Available at http://www.ema. europa.eu/docs/en\_GB/document\_library/Other/2016/04/WC500205356.pdf.





